
During 2005, cash provided by our investing activities 

$2,442 of net repayments from Cingular in accordance 
with the terms of our agreement with Cingular and 
BellSouth. See our "Cingular" section below for 
details. 

ATTC net of merger acquisition costs. 

transaction, the gain on which is deferred and 
amortized over the life of the lease. 
$154 primarily from the sale of shares of Amdocs. 
Yahoo, the sale of our entire interest in Spectrasite 
and the sale of a leasing partnership. 

* $99 related to maturities of other held-to-maturity 
securities, which have maturities greater than 90 days. 
$37 related to the repayment of a note receivable 
from an international investment. 

primarily consisted o f  

$1,673 in cash received upon closing our acquisition of 

$336 of proceeds from a real estate sale lease-back 

Cash Used in Financing Activities 
We will fund our 2006 financing activities primarily through 
a combination of cash from operations and, to a lesser 
extent than in 2005, cash provided by Cingular. We will 
continue to examine opportunities to fund our activities 
with cash from the disposition of certain assets and other 
investments as well as issuing debt a t  favorable rates in 
order to refinance some of our debt maturities in 2006. 

We paid cash dividends of $4.256 in 2005, $4,141 in 2004 
and $4,539 in 2003. Dividends declared by our Board of 
Directors totaled $1.30 per share in 2005, $1.26 per share in 
2004 and $1.41 per share in 2003. In December 2005, our 
Board of Directors approved a 3.1% increase in the regular 
quarterly dividend to $0.3325 per share. The dividends 
declared and paid during 2003 included two increases in the 
regular quarterly dividend and three additional dividends 
(totaling $0.25) above our regular quarterly dividend. 
Our dividend policy considers both the expeaations and 
requirements of stockholders, internal requirements of 
AT&T and long-term growth opportunities. It is  our intent 
to provide the financial flexibility to allow our Board of 
Directors the opportunity to continue our historical 
approach to dividend growth. All dividends remain subject 
to approval by our Board of Directors. 

During 2005, we used our available excess cash to 
reduce our debt levels and repurchase shares of common 
stock under our repurchase program. Funds from 
operations were primarily used to repay our current and 
long-term debt. During 2005, debt repayments totaled 
$6,801 and consisted o f  

$4,077 related to commercial paper borrowings. 
* $1,077 related to debt maturities with interest rates 

$1,347 related to our early redemption of debt, which 

$238 related to the exercise of a put on our 5.95% 

$42 related to net repayments on other short-term 

$20 related to scheduled principal payments on 

ranging from 6.25% to 9.50%. 

includes $26 of call premiums. 

notes originally maturing in 2038. 

borrowings. 

other debt. 

At December 31, 2005 we had approximately $4,455 of 
debt maturing within one year, which includes $3,990 of 
long-term debt maturities during 2006, $320 of commercial 
paper borrowings and $108 of bank borrowings. Our long- 
term debt maturities exclude the remaining excess of the 
fair value over the recorded value of debt of approximately 
$37. Our consolidated commercial paper borrowings 
totaled approximately $4.397 a t  December 31, 2004. All of 
our commercial paper borrowings are due within 90 days. 
Our bank borrowings availability is contingent on the level 
of cash held by some of our foreign subsidiaries. We con- 
tinue to examine our mix of short- and long-term debt in 
light of interest rate trends. (See Note 7) 

In November 2005, we received net proceeds of $1,973 
from the issuance of $2,000 of long-term debt consisting of 
$500 of three-year floating rate notes with an initial rate of 
4.52%; $1,000 of 5.30% five-year notes; and $500 from the 
reopening of our 6.15% 30-year bonds maturing in 2034. 

Our Board of Directors has authorized the repurchase of 
up to 350 million shares of AT&T common stock; this 
authorization expires a t  the end of 2008. During 2005, we 
increased our level of share repurchases of our common 
stock under our existing share repurchase program. Under 
this repurchase program, we repurchased 76 million shares 
a t  a cost of approximately $1,843 in 2005 and expect to 
purchase an additional $2,000 of shares under our 
repurchase program in 2006. See our "Issuer Equity 
Repurchases" table for share repurchase details in the 
fourth quarter of 2005. 

In November 2005, we repaid approximately $378 of 
preferred securities previously issued by an AT&T subsidiary, 
which was related to an internal restructuring of our 
ownership in several investments. Additionally, in 
December 2005, we redeemed an additional $350 of 
preferred stock in subsidiaries. 

In June 2005, we received proceeds of approximately 
$234 from a registered offering of 10,000,000 shares of our 
common stock. 

We have a three-year credit agreement totaling $6,000 
with a syndicate of banks, which expires on October 18, 2007. 
Advances under this agreement may be used for general 
corporate purposes, including support of commercial paper 
borrowings and other short-term borrowings. There is no 
material adverse change provision governing the drawdown 
of advances under this credit agreement. We are in 
compliance with all covenants under the agreement. 
We had no borrowings outstanding under committed 
lines of credit as of December 31, 2005. (See Note 7) 

Other 
Our total capital consists of debt (long-term debt and debt 
maturing within one year) and stockholders' equity. Our 
capital structure does not include debt issued by our 
international equity investees or Cingular. Total capital 
increased approximately $17,791 in 2005 compared to 
$11,245 in 2004. The 2005 total capital increase was 
primarily due to the purchase of ATTC (see Note 2). For 
2005 our common stock outstanding and capital in excess 
of par value increased by $14,781 and our current and 
long-term debt increased by $3,605. The increase in total 
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debt of $3,605 was primarily due to acquired debt from 
ATK of approximately $8,293 and debt issuances of $2,000, 
partially offset by debt repayments of $6,801 during 2005. 
Stockholders' equity also increased due to our net income 
and was partially offset by our repurchases of common 
shares through our stock repurchase program. The 2004 
total capital increase was primarily due to increased current 
and long-term debt of $8,989, of which $8,750 related to 
funding our share of Cingular's purchase of AT&T Wireless. 

Our debt ratio was 35.9%, 40.0% and 32.0% a t  
December 31,2005,2004 and 2003. The debt ratio is 
affected by the same factors that affect total capital. The 
primary factor that impacted our 2005 debt ratio was the 
acquisition of ATTC, which increased stockholders' equity 
and our current and long-term debt. 

Cingular 
The upgrade, integration and expansion of the Cingular 
and AT&T Wireless networks and the networks acquired in 
a transaction with Triton PCS Holdings, Inc. will require 
substantial amounts of capital over the next several years. 
As of December 31,2005, Cingular has spent $7,475 primarily 
for GSWGPRYEDGE network upgrades with cash from 
operations, dispositions and. as needed, advances under 
the revolving credit agreement mentioned below. Cingular 
expects to fund i ts  capital requirements for a t  least the 
next 12 months from existing cash balances, $ash generated 
from operations and, if necessary, drawing under this 
revolving credit agreement. In 2006. Cingular expects to 
spend within a target range of between $7,000 and $7,500 
primarily for the upgrade, integration and expansion of its 
networks, the installation of UMTYHSDPA technology in a 
number of markets and the construction of network 
facilities in California and Nevada to replace the facilities 
sold to T-Mobile upon the termination of our GSMF network 
infrastructure joint venture. 

Effective August 1,2004, we and BellSouth agreed to 
finance Cingular's capital and operating cash requirements 
to the extent Cingular requires funding above the level 
provided by operations. We and BellSouth also entered 
into a one-year revolving credit agreement with Cingular 
to provide short-term financing for operations on a pro 
rata basis at an interest rate of LIBOR (London Interbank 
Offered Rate) plus 0.05%. which may be renewed upon 
agreement of the parties. In June 2005, this agreement 
was renewed through July 31, 2007. This agreement 
includes a provision for the repayment of our and 
BellSouth's shareholder loans made to Cingular in the event 
there are no outstanding amounts due under the revolving 
credit agreement and to the extent Cingular has excess 
cash, as defined by the agreement. 

Under the revolving credit agreement we received net 
repayments from Cingular totaling $2,442 in 2005. These 
amounts were applied first to reduce the outstanding 
amount of advances previously made to Cingular, which 
totaled 1307 a t  December 31, 2005 and $1,002 a t  
December 31,2004 and are reflected in "Investments in 
and Advances to Cingular Wireless" on our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets. Our shareholder loan to Cingular totaled 

approximately $4,108 at December 31,2005 and $5,855 
at December 31, 2004. 

network infrastructure joint venture. In connection with 
the dissolution, Cingular sold i ts  ownership of the 
CalifornialNevada network assets to T-Mobile for 
approximately $2,500 in cash. Cingular used a significant 
portion of the proceeds from the sale to fund capital 
expenditures through July 2005 and, in the third quarter, 
used the remaining $1,488 to repay i t s  shareholder loans 
from BellSouth and us pursuant to the revolving credit 
agreement. 

In September 2005, Cingular received proceeds of 
approximately $300 related to the sale of its entire interest 
in IDEA Cellular Ltd.. a cellular telecommunications 
company in India. 

In June 2005, Cingular agreed to sell former AT&T 
Wireless operations and licenses in the Caribbean and 
Bermuda to Digicel Limited for approximately $61. A 
majority of this transaction was completed by the fourth 
quarter of 2005 with the remaining portion contingent 
upon governmental and regulatory approvals. 

In May 2005, we transferred wireless properties to 
Cingular t o  settle a liability related to the formation of 
Cingular. This transfer resulted in a decrease of 
approximately $35 to our "Investment in Cingular" account. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS, 
COMMITMENTS AN0 CONTINGENCIES 

Current accounting standards require us to disclose our 
material obligations and commitments to make future 
payments under contracts, such as debt and lease 
agreements, and under contingent commitments, such as 
debt guarantees. We occasionally enter into third-party 
debt guarantees, but they are not, nor are they reasonably 
likely to become material. We dixlose our contractual 
long-term debt repayment obligations in Note 7 and our 
operating lease payments in Note 5. Our contractual 
obligations do not include expected pension and 
postretirement payments as we maintain pension funds and 
VEBA trusts to fully or partially fund these benefits (see 
Note 10). In the ordinary course of business we routinely 
enter into commercial commitments for various aspects of 
our operations, such as plant additions and office supplies. 
However, we do not believe that the commitments will 
have a material effect on our financial condition, results of 
operations or cash flows. 

Below is  a table of our contractual obligations as of 
December 31, 2005. The purchase obligations listed below 
are those for which we have guaranteed funds and will 
be funded with cash provided by operations or through 
incremental borrowings. The minimum commitment for 
certain obligations is based on termination penalties that 
could be paid to exit the contract. Since termination 
penalties would not be paid in every year, such penalties 
are excluded from the table. Other long-term liabilities 
were included in the table based on the year of required 
payment or an estimate of the year of payment. Such 

In January 2005, Cingular and T-Mobile dissolved their 
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estimate of payment is based on a review of past trends for 
these items, as well as a forecast of future activities. Certain 
items were excluded from the table below as the year of 
payment is  unknown and could not be reliably estimated 
since past trends were not deemed t o  be an indicator of 
future payment. 

Substantially all of our purchase obligations are in our 
wireline and AT&T Corp. segments and the remainder is  
attributable to commitments in our directory segment for 
paper and printing services. Due to the immaterial value of 
our capital lease obligations, they have been included with 
long-term debt. Our total capital lease obligations are 
$115, with approximately $13 to be paid in less than one 
year. The table does not include the fair value of our 
interest rate swaps. Many of our other noncurrent liabilities 
have been excluded from the table below due to the 

Contractual Oblisations 

uncertainty of the timing of payments, combined with the 
absence of historical trending to be used as a predictor for 
such payments. Additionally, certain other long-term 
liabilities have been excluded since settlement of such 
liabilities will not require the use of cash. However, we 
have included in the table below, obligations which primarily 
relate to benefit funding and severance due to the 
certainty of the timing of these future payments. Our other 
long-term liabilities are: deferred income taxes (see Note 9) 
of $15,713; postemployment benefit obligations (see Note 
10) of $18.133; unamortized investment tax credits of $209; 
and other noncurrent liabilities of $5,354, which included 
supplemental retirement plan and certain other postem- 
ployment benefit liabilities (see Note 10) and deferred 
lease revenue from our agreement with Spectrasite, Inc. of 
$598 (see Note 5). 

Less than 1-3 3-5 Morethan 
Total 1 Year Yean Years 5 Year  

Long-term debt obligations' $29,482 $3,990 $2.337 $5.242 $17,913 
Commercial paper obligations 320 320 

Purchase obligations2.3.4 3,105 1,235 1.234 387 249 
Operating lease obligations 2,626 632 926 551 517 

- - 1,000 - 
Other long-term obligations 937 - 426 79 432 
Severance obligations 870 574 296 

- - - 
- - - Other short-term borrowings 108 108 

Retirement benefit funding obligation 1,000 

Total Contractual Obligations $38.448 $6,859 $5,219 $7,259 $19.1 11  

- - 

'Included in the "More than 5 Yeam' column is $l.OW of 4.18% Punabie Reret Securities (PURSI maturing in 2021 with a put option Ly holder m 2006 and 1125 Of 6.35% 
debentures maturing in 2026 with a put option by holder in 2006 (ree Note 7).  The impact of premium5Jdircountr and derivative instruments included in debt amounts on 
the balance sheet are excluded from the table. There debt amount5 inciude revaluations on our foreign currency denominated deM of $218 in 2006. We have entered into 
foreign exchange contracts. reatded in other current arrets. which hedge our exposure to  there foreign currency revaluations. 

2includer approximately $410 of total purchase commitments with WilTel for sewices to  be provided on WilTel'r network. 
lour AT&T C o p  segment has mntractual obligationrto utilize network facilitier from local exchange carriers with t e n s  greater than one year. Since the mntractr haw no 
minimum wlume requirements, and are bared on an interrelationship o f  volumes and discounted rater. we arrerred our minimum mmmitrnent bared on penalties to  exit 
the contracts, assuming we exited the contracts on December 31. 2WS. At December 31. 2WS. the penalties we would hawe incurred to  exit all of there Contractr would 
have been $536. There termination fees could be $571 in 2006. $684 in the aggregate for 2007 and 2008 and 1125 for 2009. assuming all contra& are exited. There 
termination fees are excluded from the abow table ar the feer would not be paid in every year and the timing of such payments, if any. is uncertain. 

calculated the minimum obligation for certain agreementi t o  purchase goods or services bared on termination fees that can be paid to  exit the <ontract. If we elect to 
exit there contracts. termination ker for all such contracts in the year of termination could be approximately $398 in 2006. 1425 in the aggregate for 2 W 7  and 2w8. $90 in 
the aggregate for 2009 and 2010 and 13. in the aggregate. thereafler. These termination fees are excluded from the above table as the f e r  would not be paid in every year 
and the timing of such payments. if any, is uncertain. 

MARKET RISK 
We are exposed to market risks primarily from changes in 
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. In 
managing exposure to these fluctuations, we may engage 
in various hedging transactions that have been authorized 
according to documented policies and procedures. On a 
limited basis, we use certain derivative financial instruments, 
including foreign currency exchange contracts and 
combined interest rate foreign currency contracts to 
manage these risks. We do not use derivatives for trading 
purposes, to generate income or to engage in speculative 
activity. Our capital costs are directly linked to financial and 
business risks. We seek to manage the potential negative 
effects from market volatility and market risk. The majority 
of our financial instruments are medium- and long-term 
fixed rate notes and debentures. Fluctuations in market 
interest rates can lead to significant fluctuations in the fair 

value of these notes and debentures. It is our policy to 
manage our debt structure and foreign exchange exposure 
in order to manage capital costs, control financial risks and 
maintain financial flexibility over the long term. Where 
appropriate, we will take actions to limit the negative 
effect of interest and foreign exchange rates, liquidity and 
counterparty risks on stockholder value. 

We enter into foreign currency contracts to minimize 
our exposure to risk of adverse changes in currency 
exchange rates. We are subject to foreign exchange risk for 
foreign currency-denominated transactions, such as debt 
issued, recognized payables and receivables and forecasted 
transactions. At December 31, 2005, our foreign currency 
exposures were principally Euros, British pound sterling, 
Danish krone and JaDaneSe Yen. 
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION ABOUT MARKET R I S K  Interest Rate Sensitivity The principal amounts by 

In order to determine the changes in fair value of our 
various financial instruments, we use certain financial 
modeling techniques. We apply rate sensitivity changes 
directly to our interest rate swap transactions and forward 
rate sensitivity to our foreign currency-forward contracts. 

The changes in fair value, as discussed below, assume 
the occurrence of certain market conditions, which could 
have an adverse financial impact on AT&T and do not 
represent projected gains or losses in fair value that we 
expect to incur. Future impacts would be based on actual 
developments in global financial markets. We do not 
foresee any significant changes in the strategies used to 
manage interest rate risk, foreign currency rate risk or 
equity price risk in the near future. 

expected maturity, averagk interest rate and fair value of 
our liabilities that are exposed to interest rate risk are 
described in Notes 7 and 8. Following are our interest 
rate derivatives subject to interest rate risk as of 
December 31, 2005. The interest rates illustrated in the 
interest rate swaps section of the table below refer to the 
average expected rates we would receive and the average 
expected rates we would pay based on the contracts. The 
notional amount is  the principal amount of the debt 
subject to the interest rate swap contracts. The fair value 
asset (liability) represents the amount we would receive or 
pay if we exited the contracts as of December 31,2005. 

Maturity 
AttW Fair Value 

Total 12/31/05 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2010 

Interest Rate Derivatives 
Interest Rate Swaps: 

Variable Rate Payable' 5.8% 5.9% 6.0% 6.0% 6.1% 5.9% 
Weighted-Average Fixed Rate Receivable 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 

*Interen payable bared on wneni and implied forward rater for Three or Six Month LIBOR plus a spread ranging between approximately E4 and 110 barir points. 

- - - $3,250 $4.250 W6) Receive FixediPay Variable Notional Amount $1,000 - 

We had fair value interest rate swaps with a notional value 
of $4,250 at December 31,2005 and 2004, with a net fair 
value liability of approximately $16 and a fair value asset 
of $79, respectively. The net fair value liability of $16 a t  
December 31, 2005 was comprised of a fair value liability 
of $33 and a fair value asset of $17. 

In November 2005, we entered into an interest rate 
forward contract with a notional amount of $500 to par- 
t ial ly hedge interest expense related to our debt issuance 
for refinancing a portion of our debt maturities in 2006. We 
utilized the notional amount of this interest rate forward 
contract and incurred settlement costs of approximately 
$2 (see Note 8). The settlement costs are accounted for 
as a component of "Other comprehensive income" and 
are being amortized as interest expense over the term of 
the interest payments of the related debt issuances. 

foreign exchange contracts is  subject to changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates. For the purpose of assessing 
specific risks, we use a sensitivity analysis to determine the 
effects that market risk exposures may have on the fair 
value of our financial instruments and results of operations. 
To perform the sensitivity analysis, we assess the risk of loss 
in fair values from the effect of a hypothetical 10% change 
in the value of foreign currencies (negative change in the 
value of the US. dollar), assuming no change in interest 
rates. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements 
for additional information relating to notional amounts 
and fair values of financial instruments. 

Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts The fair value of 

For foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding at 
December 31,2005, assuming a hypothetical 10% depreciation 
of the US. dollar against foreign currencies from the 
prevailing foreign currency exchange rates, the fair value 
of the foreign exchange forward contracts (net liability) 
would have decreased approximately $36. Because our 
foreign exchange contract5 are entered into for hedging 
purposes, we believe that these losses would be largely 
offset by gains on the underlying transactions. 

Interest Rate Foreign currency Contracts We have 
also entered into combined interest rate foreign currency 
contracts to hedge foreign currency-denominated debt. 
At December 31, 2005, assuming a hypothetical 10% 
depreciation in the US. dollar against foreign currencies 
from the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates, the 
fair value of the combined interest rate foreign currency 
contracts (asset) would have increased approximately $88. 
Because our foreign exchange contracts are entered into 
for hedging purposes, we believe that these gains would 
be largely offset by losses on the underlying foreign 
currency-denominated debt. 

shift in all foreign currency exchange rates, although 
exchange rates rarely move in the same direction. 
Additionally, the amounts above do not necessarily 
represent the actual changes in fair value we would incur 
under normal market conditions because al l  variables, 
other than the exchange rates, are held constant in the 
calculations. 

The model to determine sensitivity assumes a parallel 
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The risk of loss in fair values of all other financial 
instruments resulting from a hypothetical 10% change in 
market prices was not significant as of December 31, 2005. 

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION ABOUT MARKET R I S K  

Foreign Exchange Risk 
investments in businesses in foreign countries, are paid 
dividends and receive proceeds from sales or borrow funds 
in foreign currency. Before making an investment, or in 
anticipation of a foreign currency receipt, we often will 
enter into forward foreign exchange contracts. The contram 
are used to provide currency at a fixed rate. Our policy is 
to measure the risk of adverse currency fluctuations by 
calculating the potential dollar losses resulting from 
changes in exchange rates that have a reasonable probability 
of occurring. We cover the exposure that results from 
changes that exceed acceptable amounts. We do not 
speculate in foreign exchange markets. 

to minimize our exposure to risk of adverse changes in 
currency exchange rates. We are subject to foreign 
exchange risk for foreign currency-denominated transactions, 
such as debt issued, recognized payables and receivables 
and forecasted transactions. At December 31, 2005, our 
foreign currency exposures were principally Euros, British 
pound sterling, Danish krone and Japanese Yen. 

From time to time, we make 

We have also entered into foreign currency contracts 

Interest Rate Risk We issue debt in fixed and floating 
rate instruments. Interest rate swaps are used for the 
purpose of controlling interest expense by managing the 
mix of fixed and floating rate debt. Interest rate forward 
contracts were utilized to hedge interest expense related t o  
financing Cingular's acquisition of AT&T Wireless in 2004. 
We do not seek to make a profit from changes in interest 
rates. We manage interest rate sensitivity by measuring 
potential increases in interest expense that would result 
from a probable change in interest rates. When the 
potential increase in interest expense exceeds an 
acceptable amount, we reduce risk through the issuance 
of fixed rate (in lieu of variable rate) instruments and 
the purchase of derivatives. 

Issuer Equity Repurchases 
Our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 
350 million shares of our common stock; this authorization 
expires a t  the end of 2008. During 2005, we increased our 
level of share repurchases of our common stock under our 
existing share repurchase program. Under this repurchase 
program, we repurchased 76 million shares a t  a cost of 
approximately $1,843 in 2005 and expect to purchase 
approximately $2,000 of additional shares under our 
repurchase program in 2006. Our fourth-quarter share 
repurchases are listed below: 

Total Number of 
Sharer Purchased as 

Part of Publicly 
Maximum Number of 

Sharer that May Yet 
Total Number of Average Price Announced Plans Be Purchased Under 

Purchase Period Shares Purchased Paid per Share' or Programs the Plans or Programs 

October 26,2005 -October 31,2005 7,000,000 $23.45 7,000,000 294.989.61 3 
November 1, 2005 -November 29, 2005 25,200,000 $23.86 25,200,000 269,789,613 
December 1. 2005 - December 9, 2005 13,260,500 $25.23 13,260,500 256,529.1 13 
Total 45.460.500 624.19 45.460.500 256.529.1 13 

'Average Price Paid p r  Share excluder tranracfion LON. 

CERTIFICATION B Y  THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
AS required under the rules of the New York Stock 
Exchange (NYSE). our chief executive officer has timely 
submitted to the NYSE his annual certification that he is  
not aware of any violation by the company of NYSE 
corporate governance standards. Also as required under 
the rules of the NYSE, readers are advised that the 
certifications required under Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are not included in this 
report but instead are included as exhibits to our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for 2005. 

In addition to the other information set forth in this 
document, including the matters contained under the 
caption "Cautionary Language Concerning Fonvard- 
Looking Statements," you should carefully read the matters 
described below. We believe each of these matters could 
materially affect our business. We recognize most of these 
factors are beyond our ability to control and therefore to 
predict an outcome. Accordingly, we have organized them 

R I S K  FACTORS 

by first addressing general factors, then industry factors 
and, finally, transactions specifically applicable to us. 

Adverse changes in the US. securities markets and medical 
costs could materially increase our benefit plan costs. 

Our pension and postretirement costs are subject to 
increases, primarily due to continuing increases in medical 
and prescription drug costs and can be affected by lower 
returns in prior years on funds held by our pension and 
other benefit plans which are reflected in our financial 
statements over several years. For example, in two of the 
last five years we experienced increased combined pension 
and postretirement costs. Investment returns on these 
funds depend largely on trends in the US. securities 
markets and the US. economy. In calculating the annual 
costs included on our financial statements of providing 
benefits under our plans, we have made certain assump- 
tions regarding future investment returns, medical costs 
and interest rates. If actual investment returns, medical 
costs and interest rates are worse than those previously 
assumed, our annual costs will increase. 
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Changes in available technology could increase 
competition and our capital costs. 

changes in the last several years. The development of 
wireless, cable and IP technologies has significantly 
increased the commercial viability of alternatives to 
traditional wireline telephone service. In order to remain 
competitive, we have begun to deploy a more sophisticated 
network and continue to research other new technologies. 
If the new technologies we have adopted or on which we 
have focused our research efforts fail to be cost-effective 
and accepted by customers, our ability to remain competi- 
tive could be materially adversely affected. 

Changes to federal and state regulations and decisions 
in regulatory proceedings could materially adversely 
affect us. 

Our wireline and ATTC subsidiaries are subject to 
significant federal and state regulation while many of our 
cornpetiton are not. The adoption of new regulations or 
changes to existing regulations could significantly increase 
our costs which either would reduce our operating margins 
or potentially increase customer turnover should we 
attempt to increase prices to cover our increased costs. In 
addition, the development of new technologies, such as 
IP-based services, has created or potentially could create 
conflicting regulation between the FCC and various state 
and local authorities, which may involve lengthy litigation 
to resolve and may result in outcomes unfavorable to us. 

Increasing competition in our wireline markets could 
adversely affect wireline operating margins. 

We expect competition in the telecommunications 
industry to continue to intensify. We expect this 
competition will continue to put pressure on pricing, 
margins and customer retention. A number of our 
competitors that rely on alternative technologies (e.9.. 
wireless, cable and VolP) are typically subject to less (or no) 
regulation than our wireline and ATTC subsidiaries and 
therefore are able to operate with lower costs. These 
competitors also have cost advantages compared to us. 
due in part to a non-unionized workforce, lower employee 
benefits and fewer retirees (as most of the competitors 
are relatively new companies). We believe such advantages 
can be offset by continuing to increase the efficiency of 
our operating systems and improving employee training 
and productivity but there can be no assurance our efforts 
in these areas will be successful. 

Increasing competition in the wireless industry could 
adversely affect Cingulafs operating results. 

On average, Cingular has three to four other wireless 
competitors in each of i ts  service areas and competes for 
customers based principally on price, service offerings, call 
quality, coverage area and customer service. In addition, 
Cingular is likely to experience growing competition from 
providers offering services using alternative wireless 
technologies and IP-based networks as well as traditional 
wireline networks. Cingular expects intense industry 

The telecommunications industry has experienced rapid 

competition and market saturation likely will cause the 
wireless industry's customer growth rate to moderate in 
comparison with historical growth rates. This competition 
will continue to put pressure on pricing, margins and 
customer turnover as companies compete for potential 
customers. Cingular's ability to respond will depend, among 
other things, on improving customer retention and 
reducing customer turnover by subsidizing product 
upgrades andlor reducing pricing to match competitors' 
initiatives, upgrading Cingular's network and providing 
improved customer service. These efforts will involve 
significant expenses and require strategic management 
decisions on matters such as technology choices, marketing 
plans and financial budgets. We and BellSouth provide 
Cingular with i t s  working capital financing; if we or 
BellSouth were unable or unwilling to finance Cingular's 
operating and capital needs on a timely basis or permit 
third-party financing, Cingular would be unable to pursue 
i ts business plan. Since we jointly manage Cingular with 
BellSouth, if we and BellSouth cannot agree, inaction or 
disputes may result, which could have a material adverse 
effect on Cingular's operating results. 

The success of our Project Lightspeed broadband initiative 
will depend on the timing, extent and cost of deployment, 
the development of attractive and profitable service 
offerings and the extent to which regulatory, franchise 
fees and build-out requirements apply to this initiative. 

The trend in telecommunications technology is to shift 
from the traditional circuit and wire-based technology to 
Internet Protocol-based technology. IP-based technology 
can transport voice and data, as well as video, from both 
wired and wireless networks. lP-based networks also 
potentially cost less to operate than traditional networks. 
Our competitors, many of which are newer companies, are 
deploying this IP-based technology. In order to continue 
to offer attractive and competitively-priced services, 
we are deploying a new broadband network to offer 
IP-based voice, data and video services. Using a new and 
sophisticated technology on a very large Kale entails risks 
but also presents opportunities to expand service offerings 
to customers. Should deployment of our network be 
delayed or costs exceed expected amounts, our margins 
would be adversely affected and such effects could be 
material. Should regulatory requirements be different than 
we anticipated, our deployment could be delayed, perhaps 
significantly, or limited to only those geographical areas 
where regulation is not burdensome. In addition, should 
the delivery of services expected to be deployed on our 
network be delayed due to technological or regulatory 
constraints or other reasons, or the cost of providing such 
services becomes higher than expected, customers may 
decide to purchase services from our competitors which 
would adversely affect our revenues and margins, and such 
effects could be material. 
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Our acquisition of AlTC may not be integrated 
successfully; the expected cost savings and any other 
synergies from the acquisition may take longer to realize 
than expected or may not be fully realized: and 
disruption from the acquisition may adversely affect our 
relationships with customers. employees, suppliers and 
other parties. 

We acquired ATTC in order to combine ATTC's global 
systems capabilities, business and government customers 
and IP-based business with our local exchange, broadband 
and wireless services and to create potential cost savings, 
revenue synergies, technological development and other 
benefits. Achieving these results will depend in part on 
successfully combining two large corporations, which could 
involve significant management attention and create 
uncertainties for employees. Diversion of attention from 
ongoing operations on the part of management and 
employees could adversely affect our customers, suppliers 
and other parties with whom we have relationships. 
We also expect to incur substantial expenses related to 
the integration of ATC. We must integrate a large number 
of systems, both operational and administrative. These 
integration expenses will likely resultfhave resulted in our 
taking significant charges against earnings, both cash and 
noncash, primarily from the amortization of intangibles 
and one-time impairments. Delays in this process could 
have a material adverse effect on our revenues, expenses, 
operating results and financial condition. In addition, 
events outside of our control, including changes in state 
and federal regulation and laws as well as economic 
trends, also could adversely affect our ability to integrate 
ATTC and such effects may be material. 

Cingular's acquisition of AT&T Wireless may not be 
integrated successfully; the expected costs savings and 
any other synergies from the acquisition may take longer 
to realize than expected or may not be fully realized; and 
disruption from the acquisition may adversely affect our 
relationships with customers, employees, suppliers and 
other parties. 

Cingular acquired AT&T Wireless to add additional 
spectrum and expand i ts  network coverage and enhance 
i ts  business customer base. By adding size and scale, 
Cingular expects to compete more effectively in the 
wireless industry and procure more significant cost 
economies from vendors. In order to achieve these 
goals, Cingular must integrate separate network systems 
and consolidate other operating and support systems 
without reducing network service coverage or quality or 
customer service. Cingular also must develop and offer 
competitive and attractive services. If Cingular does not 
accomplish its integration plan in a timely and cost- 
effective manner, Cingular may lose customers, experience 
reduced growth and fail to realize the anticipated benefits 
and synergies of the acquisition to the extent, or in the 
time frame, expected. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION A N D  ANALYSIS OF 
F INANCIAL CONDIT ION A N D  RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 
Doliars m millions except per share amounts 

CAUTIONARY LANGUAGE CONCERNING 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
Information set forth in this report contains forward-looking 
statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties, and 
actual results could differ materially. Many of these factors 
are discussed in more detail in the "Risk Factors" section. 
We claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward- 
looking statements provided by the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. 

differ materially from those expressed in the forward- 
looking statements: 

The following factors could cause our future results to 

Adverse economic changes in the markets served by us 
or in countries in which we have significant investments. - Changes in available technology and the effects of 
such changes including product substitutions and 
deployment costs. 

* Increases in our benefit plans' costs including increases 
due to adverse changes in the US. securities markets, 
resulting in worse-than-assumed investment returns 
and discount rates, and adverse medical cost trends. 
The final outcome of Federal Communications 
Commission proceedings and reopenings of such 
proceedings and judicial review, if any, of such 
proceedings, including issues relating to access 
charges, broadband deployment, availability and 
pricing of unbundled network elements and platforms 
(UNE-Ps) and unbundled loop and transport elements 
(EELS). 
The final outcome of regulatory proceedings in the 
states in which we operate and reopenings of such 
proceedings, and judicial review, if any, of such 
proceedings, including proceedings relating to 
interconnection terms, access charges, universal 
service, UNE-Ps and resale and wholesale rates, 
broadband deployment including Project Lightspeed, 
performance measurement plans, service standards 
and traffic compensation. 
Enactment of additional state, federal andlor foreign 
regulatory and tax laws and regulations pertaining to 
our subsidiaries and foreign investments. 
Our ability to absorb revenue losses caused by increasing 
competition, including offerings using alternative 
technologies (e.g., cable, wireless and VolP) and UNE-P 
requirements, and our ability to maintain capital 
expenditures. 
The extent of competition and the resulting pressure 
on access line totals and wireline and wireless operating 
margins. 
Our ability to develop attractive and profitable 
productfservice offerings to offset increasing 
competition in our wireline and wireless markets. 

The ability of our competiton to offer produdservice 
offerings at lower prices due to lower cost structures 
and regulatory and legislative actions adverse to us, 
including state regulatory proceedings relating to 
UNE-Ps and nonregulation of comparable alternative 
technologies (e.g., VolP). 

* The timing, extent and cost of deployment of our 
Project Lightspeed broadband initiative; the 
development of attractive and profitable service 
offerings; the extent to which regulatory, franchise 
fees and build-out requirements apply to this initiative, 
and; the availability and reliability of the various 
technologies required to provide such offerings. 
The issuance by the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board or other accounting oversight bodies of new 
accounting standards or changes t o  existing standards. 
The issuance by the Internal Revenue Service andlor 
state tax authorities of new tax regulations or changes 
to existing standards and actions by federal, state or 
local tax agencies and judicial authorities with respect 
to applying applicable tax laws and regulations; and 
the resolution of disputes with any taxing jurisdictions. 

BellSouth, known as Cingular, including: marketing 
and product-development efforts; customer acquisition 
and retention costs; access to additional spectrum; 
network upgrades; technological advancements; 
industry consolidation, including the acquisition of 
AT&T Wireless, and; availability and cost of capital. 
Cingular's failure to achieve, in the amounts and 
within the time frame expected, the capital and 
expense synergies and other benefits expected from 
its acquisition of AT&T Wireless. 
The impact of our acquisition of ATC, including the 
risk that the businesses will not be integrated 
successfully; the risk that the cost savings and any 
other synergies from the acquisition may not be fully 
realized or may take longer to realize than expected; 
disruption from the acquisition making it more 
difficult to maintain relationships with customers, 
employees or suppliers; and competition and i ts  effect 
on pricing, spending, third-party relationships and 
revenues. 
Changes in our corporate strategies, such as changing 
network requirements or acquisitions and dispositions, 
to respond to competition and regulatory, legislative 
and technological developments. 

* The impact of the wireless joint venture with 

Readers are cautioned that other factors discussed in 
this report, although not enumerated here, also could 
materially affect our future earnings. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
Dollars in mbllions except per Share amounts 

2005 2004 2003 

Operating Revenues 
Voice 
Data 
Long-distance voice 
DirectoN advertisino 

520,037 120,796 $21,986 
12,964 10,984 10,150 
4,964 3,297 2,561 
3,786 3.832 3,894 < 

Other 2,111 1.878 1,907 
Total operating revenues 43,862 40,787 40,498 

Operating Expenses 
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization 

shown separately below) 19.190 17,515 16,857 
Selling, general and administrative 10,861 9,807 9.487 
Depreciation and amortization 7.643 7.564 7.870 
Total operating expenses 37,694 34,886 34,214 
Operating Income 6,168 5,901 6,284 

Other Income (Expense) 

Interest income 383 492 603 
Equity in net income of affiliates 609 873 1,253 
Other income (expense) - net 14 922 1.767 
Total other income (expense) (450) 1,264 2,432 
Income Before Income Taxes 5,718 7,165 8,716 
Income taxes 932 2,186 2,857 
Income From Continuing Operations 4,786 4,979 5,859 

Income Before Extraordinary Item and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes 4,786 5.887 5,971 
Extraordinaw item, net of tax - - 

Interest expense (1.456) (1,023) (1.191) 

Income From Discontinued Operations, net of tax  - 908 112 

(7) 
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax - - 2,541 
Net Income $ 4,786 S 5,887 $ 8,505 

Earnings Per Common Share: 
Income From Continuing Operations 5 1.42 I 1.50 $ 1.77 
Income Before Extraordinary Item and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes 5 1.42 5 1.78 $ 1.80 
Net Income 9 1.42 $ 1.78 1 2.56 

Income From Continuing Operations I 1.42 $ 1.50 I 1.76 
Income Before Extraordinary Item and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes $ 1.42 $ 1.77 $ 1.80 
Net Income 5 1.42 $ 1.77 $ 2.56 

Earnings Per Common Share - Assuming Dilution: 

The accompanying n o t e  are an integral pan of the consolidated financial statements 
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CON 5 0 L I DATE D BAL AN C E 5 H E ET5 
Doilars in millions except per Share amounts 

December 31, 
mnr; mnn 

~ 

Assets 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable - net of allowances for uncollectibles of $1,176 and $1,001 
Prepaid expenses 
Deferred income taxes 
Other current assets 

5 1,224 $ 760 
9,351 6,901 
1,029 746 
2,011 566 
1.039 989 

Total current assets 14,654 9,962 
Property, Plant and Equipment - Net 58,727 50,046 

~~ 

Goodwill 14,055 1,625 
Intangible Assets - Net 8,503 429 
Investments in Equity Affiliates 2,031 1,798 
Investments in and Advances to Cingular Wireless 31,404 33,687 
Other Assets 16,258 12,718 
Total Assets $145,632 $1 10,265 

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity 
Current Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17,088 11,459 
Accrued taxes 2,586 1.787 
Dividends payable 1,289 1,065 
Liabilities of discontinued operations - 310 
Total current liabilities 25,418 20,355 
Long-Term Debt 26,115 21.231 
Deferred Credits and Other Noncurrent Liabilities 
Deferred income taxes 15.713 15,621 
Postemployment benefit obligation 18,133 9,076 

Other noncurrent liabilities 5,354 3,290 
Total deferred credits and other noncurrent liabilities 39,409 28,175 
Stockholders' Equity 
Common shares ($1 par value, 7,000,000,000 authorized: issued 4,065,093,907 

4,065 3,433 
Capital in excess of par value 27,499 13,350 
Retained earnings 29,106 28.806 
Treasury shares (188,209.761 a t  December 31, 2005 and 

Debt maturing within one year s 4,455 6 5,734 

Unamortized investment tax credits 209 1 88 

a t  December 31, 2005 and 3,433,124,836 at December 31, 2004) 

132,212.645 a t  December 31, 2004, a t  cost) (5.406) (4.53 5) 
Additional minimum pension liability adjustment (218) (190) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (356) (360) 
Total stockholders' equity 54,690 40,504 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Eauitv 5145.632 $110.265 

~~ ~ ~ ~~ 

The awmpanylng notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
Dollars in mil11on5. ~ncrease (decrease1 in cash and cash equivalents 

2005 2004 2003 

Operating Activities 
Net income 0 4.786 $ 5,887 $ 8,505 
Adjustments to reconcile net income t o  net cash provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 7.643 7,564 7,870 
Undistributed earnings from investments in equity affiliates (451) (542) (965) 
Provision for uncollectible accounts 744 761 846 

Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (658) 646 3,446 
Net gain on sales of investments (135) (939) (1.775) 

7 Extraordinary item, net of tax - - 
(2.54 1) Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax - - 

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax - (908) (112) 
Retirement benefit funding - (2.232) (1,645) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable (94) 282 (2.12 1) 
Other current assets 34 (102) (14) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 84 414 2,293 
Stock-based compensation tax benefit (3) (5) (1) 

Other - net 1,045 156 (363) 
Total adjustments 8.188 5,063 4,901 
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 12.974 10,950 13,406 

Amortization of investment tax credits (21) (32) (24) 

I '  Investing Activities - 
Construction and capital expenditures 
Receipts from (investments in) affiliates - net 
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities 
Maturities of held-to-maturity securities 
Dispositions 
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired 
Proceeds from note repayment 

(5.576) (5,099) (5.219) 
2,436 (22,660) - 
- (135) (7 10) 
99 499 248 

526 6,672 3,020 

37 50 - 
1,504 (74) (8) 

. .  
(436) Purchases of other investments - 

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (974) (20,747) (3,105) 
Financing Activities 
Net change in short-term borrowings with original 

- 

maturities of three months or less (4.119) 3.398 (78) 
- (1.070) Repayment of other short-term borrowings 

Issuance of long-term debt 1,973 6,461 - 

Repayment of long-term debt (2.682) (881) (3.148) 
Purchase of treasury shares (1.843) (448) (490) 
Issuance of treasury shares a 432 216 102 
Repurchase of preferred shares of subsidiaries 
Dividends paid (4,256) (4.141) (4.539) 
Stock-based compensation tax benefit 3 5 1 

- 

- - (728) 

- - Other 16) .~, 
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities (11,226) 4,610 (9.222) 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations 774 (5,187) 1,079 
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Operating Activities from Discontinued Operations (310) (256) 156 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 464 (4,046) 1,235 
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 760 4,806 3,571 
Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year $ 1,224 $ 760 I 4,806 

The accompanying notes are an integral pari of the consolidated financial statements 

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities from Discontinued Operations - 1,397 - 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
D o l l a i ~  and shares m mbllion~, except per share a m o ~ o t r  
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2005 2004 2003 

Sharer Amount Shares Amount Sharer Amount 

Common Stock 

Issuance of shares 632 632 
Balance at end of year 4,065 I 4,065 3,433 $ 3,433 3,433 $ 3,433 
Capital in Excess of Par Value 
Balance a t  beginning of year $13,350 $13,556 $13,545 
Issuance of shares 14,087 (315) (181) 
Stock based compensation 62 109 192 
Balance a t  end of year $27,499 $13,350 $13,556 
Retained Earnings 
Balance a t  beginning of year $28.806 $27,089 $23.257 
Net income ($1.42, $1.78 and $2.56 per share) 4,786 5,887 8,505 
Dividends to stockholders ($1.30, $1.26 and $1.41 per share) (4.480) (4.170) (4.674) 

1 Other (6) 
Balance a t  end of year $29,106 $28,806 $27,089 
Treasury Shares 
Balance a t  beginning of year (132) S(4.535) (128) $(4.698) (115) I(4.584) 
Purchase of shares (76) (1.843) (17) (448) (21) (490) 
Issuance of shares 20 972 13 61 1 8 376 
Balance a t  end of year (188) J (5,406) (132) $ (4.535) (128) $ (4,698) 
Additional Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment 
Balance a t  beginning of year s (190) $(1.132) $ (1.473) 
Required adjustments (net of taxes of $(17). $578 and $210) (28) 942 341 
Balance at end of year J (218) $ (190) $ (1.132) 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax 
Balance a t  beginning of year $ (360) $ -  $ (978) 
Currency translation adjustments: 

Balance a t  beginning of year 3,433 $ 3,433 3,433 $ 3,433 3,433 $ 3,433 
- - - - 

- 

Foreign currency translation adjustment. 

Less reclassification adjustment for cumulative currency 
net of taxes of $27, $(17) and $302 50 (31) 561 

translation adjustments realized in net income, 
net of taxes of $(52) - (97) - 

Net unrealized gains (losses) on securities: 
Unrealized gains (losses), net of taxes 

Less reclassification adjustment realized in net income, 
of $3, $102 and $264 5 189 536 

net of taxes of $(30), $(121) and $(64) (56) (225) (119) 
Net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges: 

- Unrealized gains (losses). net of taxes of $(1) and $(106) 
Less reclassification adjustment realized in net income, 

(1) (196) 

7 - - net of taxes of $3 
- - Other (1) 

Balance a t  end of year 5 (356) $ (360) s -  
Other comprehensive income (loss) 4 (360) 978 

Total Comprehensive Income 
Net income $ 4.786 $ 5.887 $ 8.505 
Additional minimum pension liability adjustments per above (28) 942 341 
Other comprehensive income (loss) per above 4 (360) 978 
Total Comprehensive Income I 4,762 $ 6,469 $ 9.824 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Do1181s in millions except pei share amounts 

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF S I G N I F I C A N T  
ACCOUNTING P O L I C I E S  

Basis of Presentation Throughout this document, AT&T 
Inc., formerly known as SBC Communications Inc. (SBC), is  
referred to as "AT&T," "we" or the "Company." On 
November 18,2005, we acquired 100 percent of the 
outstanding common shares of AT&T Corp. (ATTC). In 
connection with the merger, we changed the name of the 
company from "SBC Communications Inc." to "AT&T Inc." 
A T C  is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and 
the results of ATC's operations have been included in 
our consolidated financial statements after the 
November 18, 2005 acquisition date. For a detailed 
discussion of our acquisition, see Note 2. 

accounts of the Company and our majority-owned 
subsidiaries. Our subsidiaries and affiliates operate in the 
communications services industry both domestically and 
internationally providing wireline and wireless telecom- 
munications services and equipment as well as directory 
advertising and publishing services. 

in the consolidation process. Investments in partnerships, 
joint ventures, including Cingular Wireless (Cingular), and 
less than majority-owned subsidiaries where we have signif- 
icant influence are accounted for under the equity method. 
We account for our 60% economic interest in Cingular 
under the equity method since we share control equally 
(Le., 50/50) with our 40% economic partner in the joint 
venture. We have equal voting rights and representation 
on the Board of Directors that controls Cingular. Earnings 
from certain foreign equity investments accounted for 
using the equity method are included for periods ended 
within up to three months of our year end (see Note 6). 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with US. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes, including estimates 
of probable losses and expenses. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 "Consolidation of 
Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting 
Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51" (FIN 46). FIN 46 provides 
guidance for determining whether an entity is a variable 
interest entity (VIE) and which equity investor of that VIE, 
if any, should include the VIE in i ts consolidated financial 
statements. In December 2003, the FASB staff revised FIN 46 
(FIN 46(R)) to clarify some of the provisions. The revision 
delayed the effective date for application of FIN 46(R) by 
large public companies, such as us. until periods ending 
after March 15. 2004, for all types of VIES other than 
special-purpose entities, including our investment in 
Cingular. In 2003, we recorded an extraordinary loss of $7, 
net of taxes of $4, related to consolidation of real estate 
leases under FIN 46. 

In accordance with the provisions of FIN 46(R), we 
performed a quantitative study of potential cash flows of 

The consolidated financial statements include the 

All significant intercompany transactions are eliminated 

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities In January 

Cingular, covering a wide range of scenarios that valued 
Cingular significantly above and below the estimated fair 
value of Cingular. The probability of these scenarios was 
assessed to establish the weighted-average amount that 
these scenarios were both above and below the average of 
all the scenarios. These are the "residual returns" and 
"expected losses" as defined by FIN 46(R). As Cingular's 
total capitalization has a high equity component, the 
"expected losses'' of the FIN 46(R) calculations were 
significantly below not only the fair value of Cingular's 
equity, but also its book value. Therefore, we determined 
that Cingular did not qualify for consolidation by us under 
the provisions of FIN 46(R), and our accounting treatment 
of our investment in Cingular remained unchanged. 
Cingular's acquisition of AT&T Wireless Services Inc. 
(AT&T Wireless) was accomplished entirely through equity 
contributions to Cingular; Cingular's debt increased only 
by the amount of AT&T Wireless public debt assumed in 
connection with the acquisition. When we reassessed 
whether Cingular should be consolidated under FIN 46(R), 
primarily because of the large increase in the fair value 
of Cingular's equity as a result of the transaction, we 
concluded the acquisition of AT&T Wireless did not change 
our accounting for Cingular under FIN 46(R). 

In September 2005, we 
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 
123 (revised 2004). "Share-Based Payment" (FAS 123(R)). 
which is  a revision of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation" (FAS 123). FAS 123(R) supersedes Accounting 
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock 
Issued to Employees," and amends Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 95, "Statement of Cash Flows." 

method. The modified retrospective method requires that 
compensation cost be recognized beginning with the 
effective date (a) based on the requirements of FAS 123(R) 
for all share-based payments granted after the effective 
date and (b) based on the requirements of FAS 123 for all 
awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of 
FA5 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date. 
The modified retrospective method also allowed companies 
to restate based on the amounts previously recognized 
under FAS 123 for purposes of pro forma disclosures for al l  
prior years for which FAS 123 was effective. See Note 12 for 
a detailed discussion of our stock-based compensation and 
our adoption of FAS 123(R). 

2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47. "Accounting 
for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations," (FIN 47) an 
interpretation of Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement 
Obligations"(FA5 143) and is effective for fiscal years 
ended after December 15, 2005. FIN 47 clarifies that the 
term "conditional asset retirement obligation," as used in 
FAS 143 refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset 
retirement activity in which the timing andlor method of 
settlement are conditional on a future event that may or 
may not be within the control of the entity. The obligation 
to perform the asset retirement activity is unconditional 

Stock-Based Compensation 

We adopted FAS 123(R) using the "modified retrospective" 

Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations In March 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED F I N A N C I A L  STATEMENTS (CONTINUE01 
Dollars in millions except per share amounts 

even though uncertainty exists about the timing and/or 
method of settlement. FIN 47 requires a company to recog- 
nize the liability for the fair value of the conditional asset 
retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can be 
reasonably estimated. Any liability accrued is  offset by an 
increase in the value of the asset. Adoption of FIN 47 did 
not have a material impact on our financial statements. 

in prior-period financial statements to conform to the 
current period‘s presentation, including those related to 
our discontinued operations (see Note 17). We have 
reclassified accounts receivable for our directory segment. 
Previously we netted accounts receivable from our directory 
customers against deferred revenue which is recognized 
ratably over the life of the directory. During 2005, we 
began reporting accounts receivable from our directory 
customers on a gross basis as the full amount is receivable 
from the customer at the time the directory is issued. 
As a result of this change, accounts receivable and accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities each increased by $1,421 a t  
December 31, 2004. 

Income Taxes Deferred income taxes are provided for 
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the amounts used for tax purposes. To the extent allowed 
by GAAP, we provide valuation allowances against the 
deferred tax assets for amounts when the realization is 
uncertain. Management reviews these items regularly in 
light of changes in tax l a m  and court rulings at both 
federal and state levels. 

Our income tax returns are regularly audited and 
reviewed by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and state 
taxing authorities. The IRS has completed field examinations 
for all tax years through 1999. The IRS has issued assess- 
ments challenging the timing and amounts of various 
deductionsfor the 1997-1999 period. We paid the taxes 
on these assessments and filed refund claims, which the 
IRS had denied. We reached a settlement with the IRS 
regarding almost all issues included in 1997-1999 claims in 
the fourth quarter of 2005. The 1997-1999 IRS settlement 
resulted in an income tax benefit that was recognized 
during 2005. Additionally, the IRS is expected to complete 
fieldwork for the 2000-2002 period during 2006. The 
completion of the 2000-2002 audit fieldwork is not expected 
to have an adverse impact on the financial statements. 

The IRS has completed its audit of the AlTC Group for 
1997 - 2001 and has referred the case to Joint Committee 
for review and approval which we expect during the first 
quarter of 2006. Additionally, the IRS i s  currently reviewing 
the AlTC Group for 2002 - 2005. Any adjustments required 
by either Joint Committee or the review of 2002 - 2005 will 
be subject to the rules under purchase accounting, and it is 
not expected that either will result in an adverse impact to 
the financial statements. 

Investment tax credits earned prior to their repeal by 
the Tax Reform Act of 1986 are amortized as reductions in 
income tax expense over the lives of the assets which gave 
rise to the credits. 

Cash and cash equivalents include all 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less and the carrying amounts approximate fair 

Reclassifications We have reclassified certain amounts 

Cash Equivalents 

value. At December 31, 2005, we held $709 in cash, $257 in 
money market funds and $258 in other cash equivalents. 

Investment Securities Investments in securities 
principally consist of held-to-maturity or available-for-sale 
instruments. Short-term and long-term investments in 
money market securities are carried as held-to-maturity 
securities. Available-for-sale securities consist of various 
debt and equity securities that are long term in nature. 
Unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, on available-for-sale 
securities are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive 
income. Our investment securities maturing within one year 
are recorded in “Other current assets” and instruments with 
maturities more than one year are recorded in ”Other 
Assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

telephone, long-distance and data services are recognized 
when services are provided. This is based upon either usage 
(e.g. minutes of traffic processed), period of time (e.g. 
monthly service fees) or other established fee schedules. 
Service revenues also include billings to our customers for 
various regulatory fees imposed on us by governmental 
authorities. We record an estimated revenue reduction for 
future adjustments to customer accounts, other than a p r o  
vision for doubtful accounts, a t  the time revenue is recog- 
nized based on historical experience. Cash incentives given 
to customers are recorded as a reduction of revenue. When 
required as part of providing service, revenues and associ- 
ated expenses related to nonrefundable, upfront service 
activation and set-up fees are deferred and recognized 
over the associated service contract period. If no service 
contract exists, those fees are recognized over the average 
customer relationship period. Associated expenses are 
deferred only to the extent of such deferred revenue. 
For contracts that involve the bundling of services, revenue 
is  allocated to the services based on their relative fair value. 
We record the sale of equipment to customers as gross 
revenue when we are the primary obligor in the arrange- 
ment, when title is passed and the products are accepted 
by customers. For agreements involving the resale of third- 
party services in which we are not considered the primary 
obligor of the arrangement, we record the revenue net of 
the associated costs incurred. For contracts where we 
provide customers with an indefeasible right to use 
network capacity, we recognize revenue ratably over the 
stated life of the agreement. 

ing directories on the amortization method, which 
recognizes revenues and expenses ratably over the life of 
the directory title, typically 12 months. Prior to 2003, we 
recognized revenues and expenses related to publishing 
directories on the “issue basis” method of accounting, 
which recognizes the revenues and expenses at the time 
the initial delivery of the related directory is  completed. 
See the discussion of our 2003 change in directory 
accounting in the “Cumulative Effect of Accounting 
Changes” section below. 

and assumptions to determine the amount of traffic 
compensation expenses recognized during any reporting 
period. Switched traffic compensation costs in our AT&T 
Corp. segment are accrued utilizing estimated rates by 

Revenue Recognition Revenues derived from local 

We recognize revenues and expenses related to publish- 

Traffic Compensation Expense We use various estimates 
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product, formulated from historical data and adjusted for 
known rate changes and volume levels, which are estimated 
for certain products and known for other products. Such 
estimates are adjusted monthly to reflect newly available 
information, such as rate changes and new contractual 
agreements. Bills reflecting actual incurred information are 
generally not received until three t o  nine months subse- 
quent to the end of the reporting period, a t  which point 
a final adjustment is made to the accrued switched traffic 
compensation expense. Dedicated traffic compensation 
costs are estimated based on the number of circuits and 
the average projected circuit costs, based on historical data 
adjusted for rate changes. These costs are adjusted to 
reflect actual expenses over the three months following 
the end of the reporting period as bills are received. 

allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses that 
result from the failure or inability of our customers to 
make required payments. When determining the 
allowance, we consider the probability of recoverability of 
accounts receivable based on past experience, taking into 
account current collection trends that are expected to 
continue, as well as general economic factors, including 
bankruptcy rates. Credit risks are assessed based on 
historical write-offs, net of recoveries, and future estimated 
net write-offs as well as an analysis of the aged accounts 
receivable balances with reserves generally increasing as 
the receivable ages. Accounts receivable may be fully 
reserved for when specific collection issues are known 
to exist, such as pending bankruptcy or catastrophes. 
The analysis of receivables is  performed monthly and 
the bad debt allowances adjusted accordingly. 

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes 

Directoryaccounting 
changed our method of recognizing revenues and expenses 
related to publishing directories from the "issue basis" 
method to the "amortization" method. The issue basis 
method recognizes revenues and expenses at the time the 
initial delivery of the related directory is  completed. 
Consequently, quarterly income tends to vary with the 
number and size of directory titles published during a 
quarter. The amortization method recognizes revenues and 
expenses ratably over the life of the directory, which is 
typically 12 months. Consequently, quarterly income 
tends to be more consistent over the course of a year. 
We decided to change methods because the amortization 
method has now become the more prevalent method used 
among significant directory publishers. This change permits a 
more meaningful comparison between our directory segment 
and other publishing companies (or publishing segments of 
larger companies). 

Our directory accounting change resulted in a noncash 
charge of $1,136, net of an income tax benefit of $114, 
recorded as a cumulative effect of accounting change on 
the Consolidated Statements of Income as of January 1. 
2003. The effect of this change was to increase consoli- 
dated pretax income and our directory segment income for 
2003 by $80 ($49 net of tax, or $0.01 per diluted share). 

Allowance for Uncollectibles We maintain an 

Effective January 1. 2003. we 

~ ~~ ~~ ~ 

Depreciation accounting On January 1,2003, we 
adopted FAS 143. FAS 143 sets forth how companies must 
account for the costs of removal of long-lived assets when 
those assets are no longer used in a company's business, 
but only if a company is legally required to remove such 
assets. FA5 143 requires that companies record the fair 
value of the costs of removal in the period in which the 
obligations are incurred and capitalize that amount as part 
of the book value of the long-lived asset. To determine 
whether we have a legal obligation to remove our long- 
lived assets, we reviewed state and federal law and 
regulatory decisions applicable to our subsidiaries, primarily 
our wireline subsidiaries, which have long-lived assets. 
Based on this review, we concluded that we are not legally 
required to remove any of our long-lived assets, except in a 
few minor instances. 

However, in November 2002, we were informed that the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) staff concluded 
that certain provisions of FAS 143 require that we exclude 
costs of removal from depreciation rates and accumulated 
depreciation balances in certain circumstances upon 
adoption, even where no legal removal obligations exist. 
In our case, this means that for plant accounts where our 
estimated costs of removal exceed the estimated salvage 
value, we are prohibited from accruing removal costs in 
those depreciation rates and accumulated depreciation 
balances in excess of the salvage value. For our other 
long-lived assets. where our estimated costs of removal 
are less than the estimated salvage value, we will continue 
to accrue the costs of removal in those depreciation rates 
and accumulated depreciation balances. 

Therefore, in connection with the adoption of FAS 143 
on January 1. 2003, we reversed all existing accrued costs 
of removal for those plant accounts where our estimated 
costs of removal exceeded the estimated salvage value. 
The noncash gain resulting from this reversal was $3,684, 
net of deferred taxes of $2.249. recorded as a cumulative 
effect of accounting change on the Consolidated Statements 
of Income as of January 1.2003. 

cations company in which we then held an investment 
accounted for on the equity method, recorded a loss upon 
adoption of FAS 143. Our share of that loss was $7, which 
included no tax effect. This noncash charge of $7 was also 
recorded as a cumulative effect of accounting change on 
the Consolidated Statements of Income as of Janualy 1, 2003. 

Beginning in 2003, for those plant accounts where our 
estimated costs of removal previously exceeded the 
estimated salvage value, we expense all costs of removal 
as we incur them (previously those costs had been recorded 
in our depreciation rates). As a result, our 2003 depreciation 
expense decreased and our operations and support 
expense increased as these assets were removed from 
service. The effect of this change was to increase consoli- 
dated pretax income and our wireline segment income 
for 2003 by $280 ($172 net of tax, or $0.05 per diluted 
share). However, over the life of the assets, total operating 
expenses recognized under this new accounting method 
will be approximately the same as under the previous 
method (assuming the cost of removal would be the 
same under both methods). 

In addition, in 2003, TDC AIS (TDO. the Danish communi- 
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Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and 
equipment is stated at cost, except for assets acquired using 
purchase accounting, which are recorded a t  fair value (see 
Note 2). The cost of additions and substantial improve- 
ments to property, plant and equipment is capitalized. 
The cost of maintenance and repairs of property, plant and 
equipment is charged to operating expenses. Property, 
plant and equipment are depreciated using straight-line 
methods over their estimated economic lives. Certain 
subsidiaries follow composite group depreciation method- 
ology; accordingly, when a portion of their depreciable 
property, plant and equipment is retired in the ordinary 
course of business, the gross book value is reclassified to 
accumulated depreciation; no gain or loss i s  recognized 
on the disposition of this plant. 

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for recover- 
ability whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss shall be recognized only if the carrying 
amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds 
i ts fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is 
not recoverable i f  it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted 
cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual 
disposition of the asset. 

The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement 
obligation is recorded in the period in which it is  incurred if 
a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. In periods 
subsequent to initial measurement, period-to-period changes 
in the liability for an asset retirement obligation resulting 
from the passage of time and revisions to either the timing 
or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted cash 
flows are recognized. The increase in the carrying value of 
the associated long-lived asset is depreciated over the 
corresponding estimated economic life. 

costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining 
internal-use software. Capitalized software CON are 
included in "Property, Plant and Equipment" on our 
consolidated Balance Sheets and are amortized over three 
years. Software CON that do not meet capitalization 
criteria are expensed immediately. 

Goodwill 
represents the excess of consideration paid over the fair 
value of net assets acquired in business combinations. 
Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are 
not amortized but are tested a t  least annually for impair- 
ment. We have completed our annual impairment testing 
for 2005 and determined that no impairment exists. During 
2005, the carrying amount of our goodwill increased from 
our acquisition of ATTC and an acquisition by a subsidiary 
and decreased from the sale of our paging subsidiary. 

Intangible assets that have finite useful lives are 
amortized over their useful lives, which range from 1.5 to 
9 years. Customer relationships are amortized using the 
"sum of the months digits" method of amortization over 
the expected period in which those relationships are 
expected to contribute to our future cash flows, including 
consideration for demand, competition and other economic 
factors based in such a way as t o  allocate it as equitably as 
possible to periods during which we expect to benefit from 
those relationships. 

Software Costs It is our policy to capitalize certain 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 

Advertising Costs Advertising costs for advertising 
products and services or promoting our corporate image 
are expensed as incurred. 

Our foreign investments 
and foreign subsidiaries generally report their earnings in 
their local currencies. We translate our share of their 
foreign assets and liabilities at exchange rates in effect a t  
the balance sheet dates. We translate our share of their 
revenues and expenses using average rates during the 
year. The resulting foreign currency translation adjustments 
are recorded as a separate component of accumulated 
other comprehensive income in the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Gains and losses resulting 
from exchange-rate changes on transactions denominated 
in a currency other than the local currency are included in 
earnings as incurred. 

We have also entered into foreign currency contracts 
to minimize our exposure t o  risk of adverse changes in 
currency exchange rates. We are subject to foreign exchange 
risk for foreign currency-denominated transactions, such 
as debt issued, recognized payables and receivables and 
forecasted transactions. At December 31,2005. our foreign 
currency exposures were principally Euros, British pound 
sterling, Danish krone and Japanese Yen. 

Derivative Financial Instruments We record derivatives 
on the balance sheet a t  fair value. We do not invest in 
derivatives for trading purposes. We use derivatives from 
time to time as part of our strategy to manage risks 
associated with our contractual commitments. These 
derivatives are designated as either a hedge of the fair 
value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized 
firm commitment (fair value hedge). or a hedge of a 
forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to 
be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability 
(cash flow hedge). Our derivative financial instruments 
primarily include interest rate swap agreements and 
foreign currency exchange contracts. For example, we use 
interest rate swaps to manage our exposure to changes in 
interest rates on our debt obligations (see Note 8). We 
account for our interest rate swaps using mark-to-market 
accounting and include gains or losses from interest rate 
swaps when paid or received in interest expense on our 
Consolidated Statements of Income. Amounts paid or 
received on interest rate forward contracts are amortized 
over the period of the related interest payments. 

All other derivatives are not formally designated for 
accounting purposes tundesignated). These derivatives, 
although undesignated for accounting purposes, are 
entered into to hedge economic risks. 

along with the changes in the fair value of the hedged 
asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk. 
Gains or losses upon termination of our fair value hedges 
are amortized as interest expense over the term of the 
interest payments of the related debt issuances. 

along with the changes in the fair value of the hedged 
asset or liability that i s  attributable to the hedged risk, in 
"Accumulated other comprehensive income," which is a 
component of Stockholders' Equity. The settlement gains or 
costs on our cash flow hedges are amortized as interest 

Foreign Currency Translation 

We record changes in the fair value of fair value hedges, 

We record changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges, 
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expense over the term of the interest payments of the 
related debt issuances. 

Changes in the fair value of undesignated derivatives 
are recorded in other income (expense), net, along with the 
change in fair value of the underlying asset or liability, as 
applicable. 

presented in the same category on the Consolidated 
Statements of Cash Flows as the item being hedged. 

When hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative 
is adjusted for changes in fair value through other income 
(expense), net. For fair value hedges, the underlying asset or 
liability will no longer be adjusted for changes in fair value 
and any asset or liability recorded in connection with the 
hedging relationship (including firm commitments) will be 
removed from the balance sheet and recorded in current 
period earnings. For cash flow hedges, gains and losses that 
were accumulated in other comprehensive income as a com- 
ponent of Stockholders' Equity in connection with hedged 
assets or liabilities or forecasted transactions will be recog- 
nized in other income (expense), net, in the same period the 
hedged item affects earnings. 

Employee Separations In accordance with Statement 
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 11 2. "Employers' 
Accounting for Postemployment Benefits," we establish 
obligations for expected termination benefits provided to 
former or inactive employees after employment but before 
retirement. These benefits include severance payments, 
workers' compensation, disability, medical continuation 
coverage and other benefits. At December 31, 2005, we 
had severance accruals for legacy SBC employees of 
approximately $410, of which 1283 was established as 
merger-related severance accruals. In accordance with 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, 
"Business Combinations" (FAS 141). severance accruals 
recorded for AlTC employees were included in the purchase 
price allocation (see Note 2). At December 31, 2004, we had 
severance accruals of approximately $147. 

Pension and Postretirement Benefits See Note 10 for 
a comprehensive discussion of our pension and postretire- 
ment benefit expense, including a discussion of the 
actuarial assumptions. 

NOTE 2. ACQUISITIONS AN0 DISPOSITIONS 

Acquisitions 
AT&T Corp. In November 2005, we acquired ATTC in a 
transaction accounted for under FAS 141. ATTC was one 
of the nation's largest business service communications 
providers, offering a variety of global communications 
services, including large domestic and multinational 
businesses, small and medium-sized businesses and govern- 
ment agencies. ATTC operated one of the largest telecom- 
munications networks in the US. with enterprise networking 
services available in 127 countries at December 31, 2005. 
AlTC was also a provider of domestic and international 
long-distance and usage-based-communications services 
to consumer customers. 

Cash flows associated with derivative instruments are 

Under the merger agreement, each share of ATTC 
common stock was exchanged for 0.77942 of a share of 
our common stock. We issued approximately 632 million 
shares to ATTC shareholders, giving them an approximate 
16 percent stake in the combined company, based on 
common shares outstanding. In addition, immediately prior 
to the closing of the transaction, ATTC paid each ATTC 
shareholder a special dividend of $1.30 per share. Eased on 
the $24.17 per share closing price of our common stock on 
the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) on November 17, 
2005, the last trading day before the closing of the merger, 
combined with the special dividend, consideration received 
by AlTC shareholders was approximately $16.300. 

Based on the average closing price of our common 
stock on the NYSE for the two days prior to, including, 
and two days subsequent to the public announcement of 
the merger (January 31, 2005) of $23.87 and capitalized 
merger-transaction costs, the transaction was valued, for 
accounting purposes, a t  approximately $15,517. ATTC is 
now a wholly owned subsidiary of AT&T and the results of 
AlTC's operations have been included in our consolidated 
financial statements after the November 18, 2005 
acquisition date. 

We paid a premium (Le., goodwill) over the fair value 
of the net tangible and identified intangible assets 
acquired for a number of reasons, including the following: 

Strategic Fit 
Our company will benefit from AlTC's assets and 
capabilities, including: a state-of-the-art nationwide 
and global communications network; advanced 
technological capabilities in data and internet protocol 
(IP)-based services; sales and service expertise for 
complex communications services; and significant 
product and service development capabilities in AT&T 
Labs. a leading communications research organization. 
The merger will combine our broad consumer and 
small- and medium-business customer base with 
AlTC's enterprise and government customer bases. 
The combined company will have a strong, diversified 
set of products and service offerings. 

Cost Savings and Revenue Synergies 
Combined network operations and IT expenses 
will decrease, as facilities and operations will be 
consolidated. 
Sales and support functions of the business services 
organizations will bscombined. 
Duplicate corporate functions will be eliminated. 

Technological Strength 
In acquiring ATTC's assets, which include an advanced 
product portfolio as well as a leading communications 
research organization (AT&T Labs), we will now have 
additional resources and skills to innovate and more 
quickly deliver to customers the next generation of 
advanced, integrated IP-based wireline and wireless 
communications services. 
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The application of purchase accounting under FAS 141 
requires that the total purchase price be allocated to the 
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based 
on their fair values a t  the acquisition date, with amounts 
exceeding the fair values being recorded as goodwill. 
The allocation process requires an analysis of acquired 
fixed assets, contracts. customer l is ts  and relationships, 
contractual commitments, legal contingencies and brand 
value to identify and record the fair value of all assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. In valuing acquired 
assets and assumed liabilities, fair values were based on, 
but not limited to: future expected discounted cash flows 
for trade names and customer relationships; current 
replacement cost for similar capacity and obsolescence 
for certain fixed assets; comparable market rates for 
contractual obligations and certain investments, real estate 
and liabilities, including pension and postretirement 
benefits; expected settlement amounts for litigation and 
contingencies, including the AT&T Wireless litigation, and; 
appropriate discount rates and growth rates. 

Under the purchase method of accounting, the assets 
and liabilities of AlTC were recorded a t  their respective fair 
values as of the date of the acquisition, November 18, 
2005, and we recorded goodwill of $12,343. We have 
obtained preliminary third-party valuations of property, 
plant and equipment, intangible assets (including the AT&T 
trade name), debt and certain other assets and liabilities. 
Because of the proximity of this transaction to year end, 
the values of certain assets and liabilities are based on 
preliminary valuations and are subject to adjustment as 
additional information is  obtained. Such additional 
information includes, but is not limited to: valuations and 
physical counts of property, plant and equipment, valuation 
of investments and the involuntary termination of 
employees. We will have 12 months from the closing of 
the acquisition to finalize our valuations. Changes to the 
valuation of property, plant and equipment may result in 
adjustments to the fair value of certain identifiable 
intangible assets acquired. When finalized, material 
adjustments to goodwill may result. 

We have not identified any material unrecorded 
pre-acquisition contingencies where the related asset, 
liability or impairment is probable and the amount can be 
reasonably estimated. Prior to the end of the one-year 
purchase price allocation period, if information becomes 
available which would indicate it i s  probable that such 
events had occurred and the amounts can be reasonably 
estimated. such items will be included in the final purchase 
price allocation and may adjust goodwill. 

The following table summarizes the preliminary 
estimated fair values of the A T C  assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed and related deferred income taxes as 
of acquisition date. 

ATTC 
Assets acquired 

Current assets $ 6,295 
Property, plant and equipment 10,921 
Intangible assets not subject to amortization 

Trade name 4.900 
Licenses 40 

Customer l is ts  and relationships 3,050 
Patents 150 
Brand licensing agreements 70 

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries 160 
Other assets 4,247 
Goodwill 12,343 

Total assets acquired 42,176 
Liabilities assumed 

Intangible assets subject to amortization 

Current liabilities, excluding 
6,740 

Long-term debt 8,293 
Deferred income taxes 531 
Postemployment benefit obligation 8,807 
Other noncurrent liabilities 2,288 

Total liabilities assumed 26.659 

current portion of long-term debt 

Net assets acquired $15,517 

Goodwill of $12,343, resulting from the acquisition of AlTC 
was assigned to the AT&T Corp. segment. However, as part 
of the final valuation of the acquisition we will determine 
to which entities and to what extent the benefit of the 
acquisition applies, and as required by GAAP record the 
appropriate goodwill t o  each entity. Goodwill includes a 
portion of value for assembled workforce which is  not 
separately classified from goodwill in accordance with 
FA5 141. The purchased intangibles and goodwill are not 
deductible for tax purposes. However, purchase accounting 
allows for the establishment of deferred tax liabilities on 
purchased intangibles (other than goodwill) that will be 
reflected as a tax benefit on our future Consolidated 
Statements of Income in proportion to and over the 
amortization period of the related intangible asset. 

Substantially all of the licenses acquired and the trade 
name of AT&T have an indefinite life, and accordingly, are 
not subject to amortization. The customer relationships 
intangible assets are being amortized over a weighted 
period of 1.5 to 9 years for business customers and 1.5 to 
2.5 years for consumer customers, using the sum of the 
months digits method of amortization. This method best 
reflects the estimated pattern in which the economic 
benefits will be consumed. Patent intangible assets 
include protective and commercialized patents, which are 
amortized using the straight-line method over 2 to 18 years 
based on the remaining lives of the patents and have a 
weighted-average amortization period of 10 years. 
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ATTC maintained change-in-control provisions with its 
employees that allowed for enhanced severance and 
benefit payments. Included in the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed above are severance accruals of approxi- 
mately $1,543, of which $636 will be paid from ATX'S ' 

pension plans and $37 from ATTC's postemployment 
benefit plans. These severance payments are expected 
to be paid over the next two years. 

of operations assume that the acquisition of AlTC was 
completed as of January 1 for each of the fiscal years 
shown below. 

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated results 

Year Ended December 31, 2005 2004' 

Revenues $66,061 $69,367 
Net Income (Loss) 6,167 (74) 

Earnings Per Common Share S 1.59 $ (0.02) 
Earnings Per Common Share - 

Assuming Dilution I 1.59 $ (0.02) 

YATTC? ZOM results indude an impairment charge an property. piant and 
equipment of $1 1.400. Since the triggering event far anerring impairment of 
long-lived airets Occurred in July 2W4. it is not adjusted in the pro forma 
mnralidated results. 

Pro forma data may not be indicative of the results that 
would have been obtained had these events actually 
occurred at the beginning of the periods presented, nor 
does it intend to be a projection of future results. 

In January 2005, our subsidiary 
Sterling Commerce, Inc. (Sterling). acquired Yantra 
Corporation (Yantra) for approximately $169 in cash. We 
recorded goodwill in our wireline segment of approxi- 
mately $98 associated with this acquisition. Yantra is a 
provider of distributed order management and supply 
chain fulfillment services. 

Dispositions 
Net proceeds from the 2004 dispositions of our international 
investments were generally used to fund, in part, our share 
of the purchase price paid by Cingular to acquire AT&T 
Wireless. See Note 16 for additional information on the 
Cingular - AT&T Wireless transaction. 

In September 2004, we sold our 
interest in the directory advertising business in Illinois and 
northwest Indiana to R.H. Donnelley Corporation 
(Donnelley) for net proceeds of approximately $1,397. 
The sale included our interest in the DonTech II Partnership, 
a partnership between us and Donnelley that was the 
exclusive sales agent for Yellow Pages advertising in those 
two areas. This transaction closed in the third quarter of 
2004 and we recorded a gain of approximately $1,357 
($827 net of tax) in our third-quarter 2004 financial 
results. During the third quarter of 2004, we changed 
our reporting for this portion of the directory business 
to discontinued operations (see Note 17). 

Danish telecommunications provider TDC for approximately 
$2,864 in cash. We reported a net loss of approximately 
$138 ($66 net of tax). The details of this disposition follow. 

Yantra Corporation 

Directory advertising 

TDC A I S  During 2004, we sold our investment in 

In June 2004, we sold approximately 69.4 million shares 
of TDC for approximately $2,125 in cash. Approximately 
51.3 million shares were sold to certain institutional 
investors located in Europe, the United States and else- 
where. TDC also repurchased 18.1 million shares. After this 
transaction, we owned approximately 20.6 million shares of 
TDC. We reported a loss of approximately $191 ($101 net 
of tax) in our second-quarter 2004 financial results due to 
this transaction. 

As a result of this June transaction, directors designated 
by us resigned all of their board seats and we removed al l  
of our employees from day-to-day operations a t  TDC. 
Accordingly, as we no longer exerted significant influence 
on TDC's operations, we were required to change from 
the equity method of accounting to the cost method of 
accounting for our remaining interest in TDC during 
June 2004. Therefore, we ceased recording proportionate 
results from TDC as equity income in our financial results 
from the date of this transaction. 

We had previously agreed to not sell our remaining 
approximate 20.6 million shares of TDC until December 6, 
2004, subject to various exceptions, including for sales 
made with the prior written consent of the investment 
banks that conducted the sale of a portion of our shares in 
TDC in June of 2004. However, we received approval by 
those banks on November 3, 2004, and sold our remaining 
approximate 20.6 million shares of TDC for approximately 
$739 in cash. We reported a gain of approximately $53 
($35 net of tax) in our fourth-quarter 2004 financial results 
due to this transaction. 

Telkom S.A. Limited 
invstment in South African telecommunications provider 
Telkom S.A. Limited (Telkom) for approximately $1,186 in 
cash. We reported a loss of approximately $82 ($55 net of 
tax). The details of this disposition follow. 

In June 2004, we sold approximately 50% of our stake 
in Telkom for approximately $543 in cash to South African 
and international institutional investors. We reported a loss 
of approximately $68 ($45 net of tax) in our second-quarter 
2004 financial results due t o  this transaction. Because we 
retained significant representation on Telkom's Board of 
Directors and participation and influence on operations, 
we continued to use the equity method of accounting for 
our then-remaining interest in Telkom. 

We had previously agreed to not sell any of our 
remaining interest prior to the date of the release of 
Telkom's interim financial results (which was scheduled for 
November 15, 2004). subject to various exceptions, 
including for sales made with the prior written consent of 
the investment banks that conducted the sale of a portion 
of our shares in Telkom in June of 2004. We received the 
written consent of those investment banks and in 
November 2004, we sold our remaining interest in Telkom 
for approximately $643 in cash. We reported a loss of 
approximately $14 ($10 net of tax) in our fourth-quarter 
2004 financial results due to this transaction. 

Belgacom S.A.'s (Belgacom) initial public offering (IPO), we 

During 2004, we also sold our 

Belgacom S.A. In March 2004, in connection with 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ( C O N T I N U E D )  

Dollars in millionS except per share amounts 

disposed of our entire investment in Belgacom. Both our 
investment and TDC's investment in Belgacom were held 
through Belgacom's minority stockholder, ADS6 
Telecommunications B.V. (ADSB). In a series of transactions 
culminating with the IPO, we reported a combined direct 
and indirect net gain of approximately $1,067 ($715 net of 
tax) in our 2004 financial results. Approximately $235 of 
this pretax gain was reported as equity income, reflecting 
our indirect ownership though TDC (which also disposed of 
i ts  interest). We received approximately $2,063 in cash from 
the disposition of our direct interest. 

NOTE 3.  E A R N I N G S  PER SHARE 

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of 
basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share for 
income from continuing operations for the years ended 
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are shown in the table 
below. 

Year Ended December 31, 2005 2004 2003 
Numerators 
Numerator for basic earnings 
per share: 
Income from continuing 

Dilutive potential common shares: 
operations ~4.786 14,979 $s,a59 

Other stock-based compensation 10 9 9 
Numerator for diluted 
earnings per share 54.796 14,988 $5.868 

Denominators 
Denominator for basic earnings 
per share: 
Weighted-average number of 
common shares 
outstanding (000.000) 3.368 3,310 3,318 

Dilutive potential common 
shares (000.000): 
Stock options 1 2 1 
Other stock-based compensation 10 10 10 

Denominator for diluted 
earnings per share 3,379 3.322 3,329 

Basic earnings per share 
Income from continuing 

Income from discontinued 
operations 5 1.42 $ 1.50 $ 1.77 

operations - 0.28 0.03 
Extraordinary item - - - 
Cumulative effect of 

- 0.76 
Net income 5 1.42 % 178 6 > 5 6  

accounting changes - 
. .- ~ . . . - - ._ - 

Diluted earnings per share 
Income from continuing 

Income from discontinued 
operations 5 1.42 $ 1.50 $ 1.76 

operations - 0.27 0.04 
Extraordinary item - - - 
Cumulative effect of 

- 0.76 
Net income Z 1.42 $ 1.77 $ 2.56 

accounting changes - 
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At  December 31, 2005,2004 and 2003, we had issued and 
outstanding options to purchase approximately 277 million, 
214 million and 231 million shares of AT&T common stock. 
The exercise prices of options to purchase a weighted aver- 
age of 257 million, 191 million and 212 million shares in 
2005.2004 and 2003 exceeded the average market price of 
AT&T stock. Accordingly, we did not include these amounts 
in determining the dilutive potential common shares for 
the respective periods. A t  December 31, 2005, the exercise 
price of 20 million stock options was below market price. 
Of these options, 5 million will expire by the end of 2007. 

N O T E  4 .  S E G M E N T  I N F O R M A T I O N  

Our segments are strategic business units that offer 
different products and services and are managed 
accordingly. Due to the proximity of our acquisition of 
ATTC to year end, we have reported those results in the 
AT&T Corp. segment even though there may be some 
overlap in the products and services provided by that 
segment and our wireline segment. Under GAAP segment 
reporting rules, we analyze our various operating segments 
based on segment income. Interest expense, interest 
income, other income (expense) -net and income tax 
expense are managed only on a total company basis and 
are, accordingly, reflected only in consolidated results. 
Therefore, these items are not included in the calculation 
of each segment's percentage of our consolidated results. 
We have six reportable segments that reflect the current 
management of our business: (1) wireline, (2) AT&T Corp., 
(3) Cingular, (4) directory, (5) international, and (6) other. 

landline telecommunications services, including local and 
long-distance voice, switched access, data and messaging 
sewices and satellite television services through our agree- 
ment with EchoStar Communications Corp. (Echostar). 

The AT&T Corp. segment reflects the results of ATrC for 
the 43 days following the November 18, 2005 acquisition. 
ATTC operates as both a retail and wholesale seller of 
communications services, primarily providing long-distance 
and local voice, data and managed networking to business 
customers. ATC also provides local and long-distance voice 
and data services to consumers. 

The Cingular segment reflects 100% of the results 
reported by Cingular, our wireless joint venture. Although 
we analyze Cingular's revenues and expenses under the 
Cingular segment, we eliminate the Cingular segment in 
our consolidated financial statements. In our consolidated 
financial statements, we report our 60% proportionate 
share of Cingular's results as equity in net income of 
affiliates. For segment reporting, we report this equity in 
net income of affiliates in our other segment. 

including Yellow and White Pages advertising and 
electronic publishing. Results for this segment are shown 
under the amortization method, which means that 
revenues and direct expenses are recognized ratably over 
the life of the directory title, typically 12 months. Results 
reflect the September 2004 sale of our interest in the 
directory advertising business in Illinois and northwest 
Indiana to Donnelley (see Note 2). 

The wireline segment provides both retail and wholesale 

The directory segment includes our directory operations, 



Our international segment includes all investments 
with primarily international operations, excluding 
investments acquired as a result of the ATTC acquisition. 
The other segment includes results from al l  corporate and 
other operations as well as the Cingular equity income, 
as discussed above. 

In the following tables, we show how our segment 
results are reconciled to our consolidated results reported 
in accordance with GAAP. The Wireline. AT&T Corp.. 
Cingular, Directory, International and Other columns 
represent the segment results of each such operating 
segment. The Wireline column includes revenues from 
services sold to Cingular of $815 in 2005, $602 in 2004 and 
$539 in 2003. The AT&T Corp. column includes revenues 
from services sold to Cingular of $54 in 2005. Since we 
account for Cingular using the equity method of accounting, 

these revenues are not eliminated upon consolidation and 
as such, remain in consolidated revenue. The Consolidation 
and Elimination column includes those line items that we 
manage on a consolidated basis only: interest expense, 
interest income and other income (expense) - net. This 
column also eliminates any intercompany transactions 
included in each segment's results. Since our 60% share of 
the results from Cingular is already included in the Other 
column, the Cingular Elimination column removes the 
results of Cingular shown in the Cingular segment. In the 
balance sheet section of the tables below, we included 
goodwill and other intangibles from the acquisition of 
ATC in the "Segment assets" line item in the AT&T Corp. 
column and included our investment in Cingular in the 
"Investment in equity method investees" line item in the 
Other column ($26.989 in 2005 and $26.830 in 2004). 

Segment results, including a reconciliation to AT&T consolidated results, for 2005, 2004 and 2003 are as follows: 
At December 31,2005 AT&T Consolidation Cingular Consolidated 
or for the year ended Wireline Carp. Cingular Directory International Other and Elimination Elimination ReSUItS 

Revenues from 

lntersegment revenues 226 7 - (322) 89 
Total segment 

operating revenues 37.445 2,887 34,433 3,714 10 253 (447) (34,433) 43,862 
Operations and 

support expenses 26,319 2,355 26,034 1,715 28. 80 (446) (26,034) 30,051 
Depreciation and 

amoltization expenses 7,121 414 6.575 5 - 103 - (6.575) 7,643 
Total segment 

operating expenses 33,440 2,769 32,609 1,720 28 183 (446) (32,609) 37.694 
Segment operating income 4,005 118 1.824 1,994 (18) 70 (1) (1.824) 6,168 
lntetest expense - - 1,260 - - - 1.456 (1.260) 1.456 

- 49 - - - 383 (49) 383 Interest income - 
395 217 - (5) 609 
- - 14 87 14 

external customer4 $37,219 0 2,880 934.433 43.625 4 10 $ 253 $ (125) $(34,433) $43,862 - - - - 

Equity in net income of affiliates - 2 5 (5) 
Other income (expense) - net - - - (87) 
Segment income 

before income taxes 4.005 120 531 1.989 377 287 (1.060) (531) 5.718 

Seqment assets 65,363 42,252 79,319 4.041 13,685 120,195 (99,904) (79,319) 145,632 
Investment in equity 

Expenditures for additions 
method investees - 135 7 64 1,797 27.024 - (7) 29,020 

to long-lived assets 5.2% 167 7.475 2 - 111 - (7.475) 5,576 

'The Consolidation and Elimination d u m n  includer revenuer from external customers of S(125) due to items clarrified differently for segment presentation than for 
consolidated presentation. 
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Consolidation Cinguiar Consolidated At December 31, 2004 AT&T 
or for the year ended Wireline Corp. Cinguiar Directory internatimal Other and Elimination Elimination Resulu 
Revenues from 

‘136.857 $ -  $19,565 $3,665 $ 22 $ 243 I -  S(19.565) I 40.787 external customers 
- - 1 (125) - 94 - - lntersegment revenues 30 

Total segment 

Operations and 

Depreciation and 

Total segment 

19,565 3,759 22 244 (125) (19,565) 40,787 

14,960 1,644 31 (37) (125) (14,960) 27,322 

3,077 9 101 - (3,077) 7,564 

18,037 1,653 31 64 (125) (18,037) 34.886 

1,023 (900) 1,023 
492 (1 2) 492 

81 2 61 41 5 873 
922 82 922 

operating revenues 36.887 - 

support expenses 25,809 - 

amortization expenses 7,454 - 

operating expenses 33,263 - 

Interst expense - - 
Interest income - - 
Equity in net income of affiliates - - 
Other income (expense) - net - - 

- 

Segment operating income 3,624 -.T 1.528 2,106 (9) 180 - (1,528) 5,901 - - - 900 
12 

(41 5) 
(82) 

- - - 
- - 

- - - 

Segment income 
143 2,106 803 241 391 (1 43) 7,165 

82.238 4,574 14,041 107.825 (82,261) (82,238) 110.265 

before income taxes 3,624 - 
Segment assets 66,086 - 
investment in eauitv 

. I  

2,676 63 1,494 27,071 - (2.676) 28,628 method investees - - 

to long-lived assets 4,999 - 
Expenditures for additions 

3,449 1 99 - (3.449) 5,099 - 

Conrolidaion Cingular Consolidated 
Wireline Corp. Cingular Directory international Other and Elimination Elimination Resulu 

For the year ended AT&T 
December31.2003 
Revenues from 

I -  S(15.577) I 40.498 external customers $36,508 I -  $15,577 $3,701 $ 30 I 259 
- - 4 (1 08) - 72 - - lntersegment revenus 32 

Total segment 
15.577 3,773 30 263 (108) (15,577) 40,498 operating revenues 36,540 - 

support expenses 24,735 - 

amortization expenses 7.763 - 

Operations and 

Depreciation and 

Total segment 

11,234 1,637 47 33 (108) (11.234) 26,344 

2,089 21 86 - (2.089) 7.870 - 

13,323 1,658 47 119 (108) (13,323) 34,214 
2,254 2,115 (17) 144 - (2.2541 6.284 

operating expenses 32,498 - 
Segment operating income 4,042 - . .  

- 1,191 (856) 1,191 
603 (14) m3 

606 647 - 333 1,253 
1,767 74 1,767 

- 856 - - Interest expense - 

Equity in net income of affiliates - - 
Other income (expense) -net - - 

- - - 14 Interest income - - 
- (333) 

(74) - - - 

Segment income 
1,005 2,115 589 791 1,179 (1.005) 8.716 before income taxes 4,042 - 

Geograph ic  Information 
Our investments ou ts ide  of the United States are p r imar i l y  
accounted  for under the e q u i t y  method of account ing .  
Accordingly, we do not inc lude  in our o p e r a t i n g  revenues 
a n d  expenses the revenues a n d  expenses of these  December 31, 2005 2W4 

J 99,547 178,806 ind iv idua l  investees. Therefore, less t h a n  1% of our t o t a l  
operating revenues for a l l  years p resented  a r e  from Mexico 1,564 1,221 
ou ts ide  the U n i t e d  States. Other  fo re ign  countr ies 691 272 

Total $101,802 $80.299 

Long- l ived assets consist p r imar i l y  of n e t  property, plant 
a n d  equipment; goodwi l l ,  and; the book va lue  of our 
equity investments, w h i c h  a re  s h o w n  in the t a b l e  below: 

Un i ted  States 
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Because of the proximity of the AlTC acquisition to year 
end, the values of certain AlTC assets are based on 
preliminary valuations and are subject to adjustment as 
additional information is  obtained. (See Note 2) 

We also had long-lived intangible assets which were not 
presented in the table shown above. At December 31, 2005, 
substantially all of our intangible assets consisted of $4,900 
from the value of the AT&T trade name and $3,033 of 
customer lists. (See Note 14) 

NOTE 5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment is summarized as follows a t  
December 31: 

Lives 
(years) 2005 2004 

Land - I 1.169 $ 643 
Buildings 35-45 15.557 11,909 
Central office equipment 3-10 57,254 55,703 
Cable, wiring and conduit 10-50 55,858 52,860 
Other equipment 5-15 12,111 9.749 
Software 3 5,539 4.222 
Under construction - 1.750 1,091 

149.238 136 177 

Accumulated depreciation 

Property, plant and 

Our depreciation expense was $7,372 in 2005, $7.447 in 
2004 and $7,667 in 2003. 

Certain facilities and equipment used in operations are 
leased under operating or capital leases. Rental expenses 
under operating leases were $473 for 2005, $479 for 2004 
and $420 for 2003. At December 31,2005, the future 
minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating 
leases for the years 2006 through 2010 were $632. $514, 
$412, $312 and $239 with $517 due thereafter. Capital 
leases are not significant. 

During 2005, we had impairments in our wireline 
segment of approximately $349 on assets for which we 
do not believe we will recover their value due to the 
acquisition of ATC. The impairments primarily consisted of 
$237 due to the write-down of out-of-region assets to 
current market value and write-offs of $45 of collocation 
assets and $43 of software. The impairments are reflected as 
an operating expense in the "Selling, general and adminis- 
trative'' line on our Consolidated Statements of Income. 
Spectrasite Agreement 
In August 2000, we reached an agreement with SpectraSite. 
Inc. (Spectrasite) under which we granted Spectrasite the 
exclusive rights to lease space on a number of our commu- 
nications towers. These operating leases were scheduled to 
close over a period ending in 2002 (subsequently extended 
to 2004). Spectrasite would sublease space on the towers to 
Cingular and also agreed to build or buy new towers for 
Cingular over the next five years. Cingular's sublease pay- 
ments to Spectrasite reduce Cingular's net income and par- 
tially offset the rental income we receive from Spectrasite. 

Under the terms of the original agreement, we received 
a combination of cash and stock as complete prepayment 
of rent with the closing of each leasing agreement. 

and amortization 90,511 86,131 

equipment - net 5 58.727 I 50,046 

The value of the prepayments were recorded as deferred 
revenue and recognized in income as revenue over the life 
of the leases. In November 2001, we received $35 from 
Spectrasite in consideration for amending the agreement 
to reduce the maximum number of towers subject to its 
terms and to extend the schedule for tower closings until 
the first quarter of 2004. The balance of deferred revenue 
was $598 in 2005, $628 in 2004 and $605 in 2003. 

In late 2002, Spectrasite and certain of i ts senior debt 
holders agreed to restructure i ts  debt. To effect the 
restructuring, Spectrasite filed a "prearranged" plan of 
reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United States 
Bankruptcy Code. We agreed with Spectrasite, subject to 
completion of i ts  Chapter 11 reorganization, to decrease 
the number of towers to be leased to Spectrasite and to 
extend the schedule for tower closing until the third 
quarter of 2004. In addition, we exchanged all of our 
shares in Spectrasite for warrants to purchase shares 
representing less than 1% of the restructured company 
with no significant financial impact on us; we disposed 
of this interest in 2005. Spectrasite emerged from 
bankruptcy in 2003. 

NOTE 6. EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS 

We account for our nationwide wireless joint venture, 
Cingular, and our investments in equity affiliates under 
the equity method of accounting. 

investments in and advances to Cingular as presented on 
our Consolidated Balance Sheets: 

Cingular The following table is a reconciliation of our 

1005 2004 

Beginning of year 533,687 $1 1,003 
Contributions - 21.688 
Equity in net income 200 30 
Other adjustments (2.483) 966 
End of year 131.404 $33,687 

Undistributed earnings from Cingular were $2.71 1 and 
$2,511 a t  December 31,2005 and 2004. "Other adjust- 
ments" in 2005 included the net activity of $2,442 under 
our revolving credit agreement with Cingular, consisting 
of a reduction of $1,747 (reflecting Cingular's repayment 
of their shareholder loan during 2005) and a decrease of 
$695 (reflecting Cingular's net repayment of their 
revolving credit balance during 2005) (see Note 15). 

During 2004, we made an equity contribution to 
Cingular in connection with i ts  acquisition of AT&T Wireless 
(see Note 16). "Other adjustments" in 2004 included the 
net activity of $972 under our revolving credit agreement 
with Cingular, consisting of a reduction of $30 (reflecting 
Cingular's repayment of advances during 2004) and an 
increase of $1,002 (reflecting the December 31, 2004 
balance of advances to Cingular under this revolving credit 
agreement). 

We account for our 60% economic interest in Cingular 
under the equity method of accounting in our consolidated 
financial statements since we share control equally (i.e., 
50/50) with our 40% economic partner in the joint venture. 
We have equal voting rights and representation on the 
Board of Directors that controls Cingular. 
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